

Nicholas deB. Katzenbach,	)	
As Acting Attorney General of	)	
the United States, et al.,	)	
	)	
Appellants,	)	Appeal from the United States
	)	District Court for the North-
vs.	)	ern District of Alabama.
	)	
Ollie McClung, Sr., et al.	)	

[ December , 1964. ]

MR. JUSTICE CLARK delivered the opinion of the Court.

This case was argued with No. 515, Heart of Atlanta Motel v. United States, et al., decided this date, and in which we have upheld the constitutional validity of Title II of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 from an attack by hotels, motels and like establishments. This complaint for ~~injunction~~ <sup>INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AGAINST APPELLANTS</sup> attacks the Act from the standpoint of a restaurant, known as Ollie's Barbecue and situated in Birmingham, Alabama. The Act places restaurants under its proscription if the restaurant's discriminatory practice is supported by state action, as defined therein, or if it serves or appears to serve interstate travelers or a substantial portion of the food which it serves has moved in interstate commerce. The case was heard by a three judge United States District Court and the ~~appellants~~ <sup>INJUNCTION WAS ISSUED</sup> ~~appellants~~ <sup>RESTRAINING APPELLANTS</sup> were enjoined from enforcing the Act against the restaurant.      F. Supp.     .

On direct appeal, 28 U. S. C. 1212, 1253, we noted probable jurisdiction.

U. S. . We now reverse the judgment.

1. The Motion to Dismiss.

The appellants moved in the District Court to dismiss the Complaint for want of equity jurisdiction and that claim is pressed here. The ground is that no threat of enforcement against the appellees is present here nor is there any allegation of irreparable injury. It is true that ordinarily equity will not interfere in such cases. However, we might consider <sup>this</sup> ~~the~~ complaint to be an application for a declaratory judgment under 28 U. S. C. § 2201 and § 2202. While in declaratory judgment actions, Rule 57 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure permits declaratory relief even though another adequate remedy exists, it should not be granted where a special statutory proceeding has been provided. See Advisory Committee Notes on Rule 57. Title II provides a statutory proceeding for the determination of rights and duties thereunder. § 201. Courts should, therefore, ordinarily exercise their discretion in such cases against the exercise of jurisdiction.

The present case, however, is in a unique position. The interference with governmental action has occurred and the constitutional question is before us in the companion case of Heart of Atlanta Motel as well

*Insert*

2. The Facts.

~~It~~ Ollie's Barbecue is a family operated restaurant specializing in barbecued meats and homemade pies, with a capacity for some 220 customers. It is located on a state highway some eleven blocks from an interstate one and a somewhat greater distance from the railroad and bus stations. The restaurant caters to a family and white collar trade with a take out service for Negroes. It ~~employs~~ employs 36 persons, two thirds of whom are Negroes.

In the twelve months preceding the passage of the Act the restaurant purchased locally approximately \$150,000 worth of food, 55% of which was meat (\$69,783). It was bought from the local branch of a packing concern and all of it came from without the state. The District Court found that a substantial portion of the food served in the restaurant had moved in interstate commerce.

*Go back to  
The restaurant has refused etc*

as in this case. It is important x that a decision on the constitutionality of the Act as applied in these cases be announced as quickly as possible.

For these reasons we have concluded, with the above caveat,

that the denial of discretionary declaratory relief is not required here.

→ 2. The facts.

The restaurant has refused to serve Negroes in its dining accommodations since its original opening in 1927. The District Court found that if it was required to do so the restaurant would lose a substantial amount of business and that since July 2, 1964 it had been operating in violation of the Act.

On the merits the District Court held that the Act could not be applied under the Fourteenth Amendment because it was conceded that the State of Alabama was not involved in the refusal of the restaurant to serve Negroes. It was also admitted that the Thirteenth Amendment was neither authority for nor prohibitory of the Act. As to the Commerce Clause, the Court found that it was "an express grant of power to Congress to regulate interstate commerce which consists of the movement of persons, goods or information from one State to another"; and it found that the clause was also a grant of power "to regulate



intrastate activities, but only to the extent that action on its part is necessary or appropriate to the effective execution of its expressly granted power to regulate interstate commerce. There must be, it said, a close and substantial relation between local activities and interstate commerce which requires control of the former in the protection of ~~the~~ the latter. The court concluded, however, that the Congress, rather than finding facts sufficient to meet this rule, legislated a conclusive presumption that the restaurant business did affect interstate commerce, if it serves or offers to serve interstate travelers or a substantial portion of the food which it serves had moved in commerce. It found no rational connection between the substantial amounts of food purchased in interstate commerce and served in the restaurant and the conclusion of Congress that interstate commerce was affected thereby. It, therefore, struck down the Act and issued the restraints prayed for.

The basic holding in Heart of Atlanta Motel, supra, answers

~~many~~ <sup>many</sup> ~~most~~ of the contentions made by the appellees. ~~However, some questions~~ <sup>↓ THERE WE OUTLINED THE OVERALL</sup>

PURPOSE AND OPERATIONAL PLAN OF TITLE II AND FOUND IT A VALID EXERCISE OF THE POWER ~~arising out of the congressional test as to its activities "affecting commerce"~~

TO REGULATE <sup>INTERSTATE</sup> COMMERCE AS APPLIED TO HOTELS AND MOTELS. IN THIS CASE WE CONSIDER ITS APPLICATION TO RESTAURANTS WHICH SERVE THE GENERAL PUBLIC <sup>OR</sup> RECEIVE A SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF THE FOOD ~~OR~~ SERVED FROM OTHER STATES.

1. THAT OPINION <sup>DISMISSES</sup> ~~OF~~ THE CHALLENGES HERE THAT ARE BASED ON THE FIFTH, NINTH, TENTH AND THIRTEENTH AMENDMENTS; AND, AS WELL, THE INAPPOSITENESS OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS CASES, 109 US 3 (1883).

requires comment. We believe that the District Court erred in concluding that on the record before it the Congress had created a conclusive presumption in that regard.

3. THE ACT AS APPLIED.  
~~SECTION 201 (b) AND (c)~~

SECTION 201 (a) OF TITLE II COMMANDS THAT ALL PERSONS SHALL BE ENTITLED TO THE FULL AND EQUAL ENJOYMENT OF THE GOODS <sup>and</sup> SERVICES ~~OF~~ OF ANY PLACE OF ACCOMMODATION WITHOUT DISCRIMINATION OR SEGREGATION ON THE GROUND OF RACE, COLOR, RELIGION OR NATIONAL ORIGIN; AND § 201 (b) DEFINES THE ESTABLISHMENTS WHICH ~~ARE~~ ARE PLACES OF PUBLIC ACCOMMODATION IF ITS OPERATIONS AFFECT COMMERCE OR SEGREGATION BY IT IS SUPPORTED BY STATE ACTION; § 201 (b) (2) AND (c) ~~PLACES~~ ANY "RESTAURANT... <sup>PRINCIPALLY</sup> ENGAGED IN SELLING FOOD <sup>FOR CONSUMPTION</sup> ON THE PREMISES" UNDER THE ACT "IF...IT SERVES OR OFFERS TO SERVE INTERSTATE ~~TRAVELERS~~ TRAVELERS OR A SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF THE FOOD WHICH IT SERVES ... HAS MOVED IN COMMERCE."

OLLIE'S BARBECUE ADMITS THAT IT IS COVERED BY THESE PROVISIONS OF THE ACT. THE GOVERNMENT ADMITS THAT THE DISCRIMINATION AT THE RESTAURANT WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE STATE OF ALABAMA. THERE IS NO PROOF THAT <sup>INTERSTATE</sup> TRAVELERS FREQUENTED THE RESTAURANT. THE SOLE QUESTION <sup>THEREFORE</sup> ~~NARROWS DOWN~~ TO WHETHER TITLE II, AS APPLIED TO A RESTAURANT RECEIVING ABOUT \$2000 WORTH OF THE FOOD WHICH IT SELLS FROM <sup>INTERSTATE COMMERCE</sup> ~~OUTSIDE ALABAMA~~, IS A VALID EXERCISE OF THE POWER OF CONGRESS TO REGULATE <sup>THAT</sup> ~~THE~~ COMMERCE. WE CONCLUDE THAT CONGRESS HAD AMPLE BASIS UPON WHICH TO FIND THAT RACIAL DISCRIMINATION <sup>IN</sup> RESTAURANTS WHICH PURCHASE FROM OUTSIDE THE STATE A SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF THE FOOD SERVED DOES PLACE SUBSTANTIAL BURDENS UPON INTERSTATE COMMERCE. AND, EVEN THOUGH THEY ARE NOT THEMSELVES IN INTERSTATE COMMERCE, THE ACT IS AN APPROPRIATE <sup>OF SUCH RESTAURANTS</sup> ~~REGULATION~~ UNDER THE COMMERCE CLAUSE ~~IN ORDER TO FOSTER~~ TO RELIEVE <sup>THESE</sup> ~~THESE~~ BURDENS AND OBSTRUCTIONS <sup>FOUND TO EXIST IN INTERSTATE</sup> ~~IN~~ COMMERCE AND TO FOSTER, ENCOURAGE AND PROMOTE <sup>IT.</sup> ~~THE SAME.~~ ~~IT.~~

4. EVIDENCE SUPPORTING CONCLUSION <sup>OF CONGRESS</sup> THAT RACIAL DISCRIMINATION IN RESTAURANTS BURDENS INTERSTATE COMMERCE.

The record <sup>before Congress</sup> is replete with testimony of both direct and indirect burden placed on interstate commerce by <sup>racial</sup> discrimination in restaurants. On the former, a schedule of per capita spending of negroes in restaurants, theaters and ~~the~~ like establishments ~~was~~ <sup>indicated</sup> indicated less spending, <sup>after</sup> ~~after~~ ~~discrimination~~ ~~after~~ ~~discrimination~~ ~~income~~ ~~differences~~ ~~discriminating~~ ~~income~~ ~~differences~~, in areas practicing discrimination. The condition ~~was~~ <sup>was</sup> especially aggravated in the South and was attributed to discrimination. See Senate Commerce Hearings at 695. This direct link between discrimination



and commerce is the result of a reduction in the number of potential customers caused by a refusal of Negro patronage, which reduces the quantity of goods purchased through interstate channels. This "artificial restriction on the market" interferes with the flow of merchandise, Senate <sup>Commerce</sup> Hearings at 18-19; testimony of Senator Magnuson, 110 Cong Rec 7174. Not only is it axiomatic that ~~racial discrimination~~ established restaurants, see less but many new businesses are not opened because of the ~~market~~ <sup>LEAN</sup> market resulting from the exclusionary practice.

Viewed in isolation the volume of food purchased by Ollie's Barbecue from out of state sources would have little effect upon the total food stuff moving in interstate commerce. But the \$70,000 volume ~~purchase~~ by this one establishment is not conclusive. As we said in *Labor Board v. Ruckelshaus* 371 US 224, 236: "Appropriate for judgment is [also] the fact that the immediate situation is representative of many others throughout the country, the total evidence of which if left unchecked may well become far-reaching in its harm to commerce." The evidence is that ~~the~~ racial discrimination <sup>in restaurants</sup> ~~is~~ is widespread, not confined to a single State or region but a nationwide problem. Testimony of William Marouzes, discriminatory practices in one restaurant quickly spread to other restaurants. And in this day of "have money will travel" one city's discriminatory practice quickly spreads to others. Congress ~~knows that~~ discrimination ~~is at any one establishment as part of a complex and~~ interrelated pattern. ~~and cannot judge~~ <sup>Therefore</sup> when it created the individualistic <sup>restaurant's</sup> to interstate commerce through ~~the~~ <sup>THE</sup> receipt of interstate goods in substantial proportions ~~at the time~~ IT WAS ENTIRELY APPROPRIATE THAT Congress judge the importance of that line ~~to interstate commerce in~~ ~~part of a whole~~ as part of a complex and interrelated <sup>for the Court</sup> national pattern. As our late brother Jackson said [in

Wickard v. Filburn, 317 U.S. 111 ( ):

"That appellee's own contribution to the demand for wheat may be trivial by itself is not enough to remove him from the scope of federal regulation where, as here, his contribution, taken together with many others similarly situated, is far from trivial."

at p 127-128.

Moreover the record before the Congress was filled with testimony showing that racial discrimination in restaurants was a prolific source of disputes burdening and obstructing commerce. Current events make plain that these disputes - large, arising <sup>over</sup> ~~in~~ restaurants following discriminatory practices - have become of incredible proportions. The testimony indicated that during one period covering barely over 2 months in 1963 there were 639 demonstrations in 174 cities in 32 states and the district of Columbia. <sup>(Hearings, Committee on Judiciary, U.S. Senate 88<sup>th</sup> Cong. 1<sup>st</sup> Sess. S. 1731 P. 216.)</sup> In the eleven month period from April, 1964, there were 2422 racial demonstrations, 850 of which <sup>arose from disputes about discrimination</sup> in places of public accommodation. <sup>110 Cong Rec 7980</sup> The Mayor of Atlanta testified that "[f]ailure by Congress to take definite action at this time... would start the same old round of squabbles and demonstrations that we have had in the past. Report of the Committee on Commerce, U.S. Senate, on S 1732, No 872 ~~by~~ 88<sup>th</sup> Cong. 2d Sess.

Our cases show that the <sup>most</sup> immediate ~~effect~~ impact of ~~the demonstrations~~ on restaurants and lunch counters has come from sit-in demonstrations. During the past 18 months ~~such~~ such cases have been filed here. These sit-ins prevent <sup>the</sup> conduct of business entirely and usually result in temporary closing. This results



of course in the elimination of purchases of out of state supplies. But the testimony indicated much more, showing "that discrimination in public accommodations and demonstrations protesting such discriminations had serious consequences for general business conditions in numerous cities in recent years." Hearings before the Committee on Commerce, U.S. Senate, 88th Cong. 1st Sess., on S 1732, Part 2, Ser. 27 at 699. Retail sales in Birmingham were off 30% during the protest riots <sup>and a near boycott</sup> in the Spring of 1963. The Federal Reserve Bank showed <sup>during a 4 week period of 1963 that</sup> department store sales down 15% over <sup>the</sup> 1962.

The ~~same~~ <sup>same</sup> period of

~~during a four week period~~ During the same period sales were up in cities suffering no such ~~incident~~ incidents. Atlanta suffered a somewhat similar experience [12% reduction] "after several months of intermittent demonstrations in 1960-1961. In Savannah, lunch counter demonstrations in downtown stores "cut retail sales as much as 50% in some places." In the Fall of 1962 Charlotte, N.C. was "hit by drives for desegregation of public accommodations" ~~and~~ <sup>and</sup> ~~causing~~ cutting business down from 20 to 40 percent. In Nashville a seven week boycott was 98% efficient. Senate Commerce Hearings at 700-

These general downturns in retail business, <sup>largely</sup> spurred by racial ~~discrimination~~ discrimination in ~~restaurant~~ eating places, if left unchecked, might well result in a serious disruption of the flow of interstate commerce. No sales, means no purchases which directly affects the movement of out of state ~~goods~~ supplies. As Congressman McCulloch, one of the managers of the bill in the House, observed "a local disturbance can affect the commerce of an entire State, region and the country. Additional Views of Congressman McCulloch et al Report of the House Judiciary Committee, 88th Cong., 1st Sess. N<sup>o</sup> 914, Part 2 on HR 7152 at p. 12.

~~That was Congress obliged to wait~~

Seeing this rapidly expanding situation Congress was not required to wait the total ~~disruption of commerce~~ <sup>obstruction of commerce</sup>. As was said in *Consolidated Edison Co v Labor Board*, 305 US 197 ( ):

"But it cannot be maintained that the exertion of federal power must await the disruption of that commerce. Congress was entitled to provide reasonable preventive measures and that was the object of the National Labor Relations Act." at p 222.

5. <sup>The</sup> Power to Regulate Interstate Commerce Extends to Local Activities whose Regulation is appropriate to protect that Commerce.

Article I, Section 8, Clause 3 confers upon Congress the power "To regulate Commerce ... among the several States" and Clause 18 of the same Article grants it the power "To make all laws which shall be necessary and proper for carrying into execution the foregoing Powers..." This grant, as we have pointed out in *Heart of Atlanta Motel* "extends to those activities interstate which to affect interstate commerce, or the exertion of the power of Congress over it, as to make the regulation of them appropriate means to the attainment of a legitimate end, the effective execution of the granted power to regulate interstate commerce." *United States v Wrightwood Dairy Co* 315 US 110, 119 [ 7 ]. Much is said about a restaurant business being local but "even if appellee's activity be local and though it may not be ~~recorded~~ recorded as commerce, it may still, whatever its nature, be reached by Congress if it exerts a substantial economic effect on interstate commerce...." *Wickard v Filburn* *supra* at 125.